STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Dillon County

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

FEB 10 2015

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMMY LEE SCARBOROUGH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002458  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge abuse his discretion in refusing to sever seven different indictments naming three different child victims when the State failed to demonstrate that the three groups of alleged offenses were of the same general nature, failed to prove that the offenses arose out of a single chain of circumstances and were provable by the same evidence and the Appellant was prejudiced by the improper joint trial?
2. Did the trial judge err in admitting Rule 404(b) evidence when the State failed to prove that the prior act was relevant and the prior act did not meet the common scheme or plan exception to Rule 404(b)?
3. Did the trial abuse his discretion in refusing to declare a mistrial after Minor 2 denied the allegations in one of the indictments and later in the trial the forensic interviewer and the investigator from the Attorney General's Office confirmed that Minor 2 had denied the allegation contained in the indictment?
4. Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal on the three dissemination of obscene material charges when the State did not introduce in evidence any purported obscene material and relied only on the testimony of the child witnesses?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June of 2013, the Dillon County Grand Jury indicted Scarborough for three counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree, three counts of dissemination of obscene material and one count of engaging a child in sexual performance, indictments #20130GS-17-290, 291, 292, 293, 294, 328 and 710. On November 4, 2013, Scarborough proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Paul M. Burch. Attorney Kyle M. Hobbs represented Scarborough at trial. Assistant Solicitor Shipp Daniel and Assistant Attorney General Kelly W. Hall prosecuted the case. At the end of the State's case, the State "withdrew" indictment #2013-GS-17-710, engaging a child in sexual performance and indictment #2013-GS-17-328, criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree, involving Minor 2. (R. p. 367, lines 8-16). The jury returned verdicts of guilty on the remaining indictments. Judge Burch sentenced Scarborough to two concurrent life sentences for the two criminal sexual conduct with a minor charges and three concurrent five year sentences of the dissemination of obscene material charges. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on November 15, 2013. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State, represented by both the Fourth Circuit Solicitor's Office and the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, tried Appellant Scarborough on seven different indictments involving three different minor victims despite the fact that Minor 2 denied the allegation contained in indictment #2013-GS-17-328 for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree to both a "forensic interviewer" and to an investigator from the Attorney General's office. (R. p. 310, lines 18-20; p. 311, lines 10-15; p. 321, line 14 – p. 322, line 1). Minor 1 and Minor 2 are brothers. Minors 1, 2, and 3 were neighbors of Appellant. Minor 4 is Appellant's nephew and was not the subject of any of the current seven indictments and the allegations made by Minor 4 were not criminally prosecuted. Instead, Minor 4 was allowed to testify, over objection, pursuant to Rule 404(b). At the time of trial Minor 1 was seven years old. (R. p. 172, lines 21-22). Minor 2 was five years old at the time of trial. (R. p. 200, lines 12-13). Minor 3 was eight years old at the time of trial. (R. p. 228, lines 19-20). Minor 4 was eight years old at the time of trial but three or four years old when he reported an incident to his mother. (R. p. 272, lines 17-18; p. 259, lines 13-23; R. p. 28, lines 15-19).

On May 25, 2012, the mother of Minors 1 and 2, filed a report with Jason Turner of the City of Dillon Police Department indicating that her two boys may have been sexually assaulted. (R. p. 100, line 19 – p. 101, lines 1-6). Officer Turner testified that he questioned Minor 1 who told him he had been sexually abused at Appellant's house. (R. p. 102, lines 6-25). Minor 1 was unable to provide any dates. The more than two year time frame alleged in indictment #2013-GS-17-0292, January 1, 2010 through May 25, 2012, is

based on the time when the Minors became neighbors with Appellant up to the time the mother made the police report. (R. p. 103, lines 1-8).

Minor 1 testified at trial that Appellant put his “ding a ding” in his throat and made him choke. (R. p. 181, lines 10-11). Minor 1 testified that this took place in the barn. (R. p. 186, lines 5-19). Minor 1 also testified that on one occasion Appellant showed him a magazine with naked girls and naked boys. (R. p. 184, lines 1-13).

Officer Turner testified that Minor 2 also told him that he had been sexually abused at Appellant’s house and, like his brother, could not provide any dates. (R. p. 103, line 18 – p. 104, lines 1-11). Minor 2’s Grandmother and Aunt, however, testified that Minor 2 did not disclose that he had been sexually abused. (R. p. 144, lines 17-20 ; p. 157, lines 18-23). Minor 2, testified at trial that Appellant never touched him and he never touched Appellant. (R. p. 214, lines 19-22). Minor 2 testified, however, that he saw Appellant make Minor 1 suck his “wee wee.” (R. p. 209, lines 2-22). Minor 2 also testified that Appellant showed him and his brother pictures of gay boys humping with their clothes off. (R. p. 209, line 2 – p. 211, lines 1-25).

Minor 3’s mother testified that in November of 2011, her son told her that he had been sexually abused in Appellant’s backyard. (R. p. 220, lines 10-17). She did not report the allegation to the police at the time. (R. p. 220, lines 18-25). After Minors 1 and 2 went to a “forensic interview” on May 29, 2012, the police contacted Minor 3’s mother. (R. p. 107, lines 13-20). Minor 3 and his parents met with Officer Turner at the police station where Minor 3 told the officer that he had been sexually abused at Appellant’s house in November of 2011. (R. p. 107, line 21 – p. 108, lines 1-12). Indictment #2013-GS-17-

0290, and 0291 involving Minor 3 alleges a time frame of six months between November 1, 2011, and May 25, 2012.

Minor 3 testified at trial that Appellant tried to put “his turtle in my butt.” (R. p. 235, line 18 – p. 236, lines 1-6). Minor 3 testified that on one occasion Appellant showed him a nasty magazine with girls and boys with their clothes off humping. ( R. p. 237, lines 11-24). Minor 3 testified that he never saw Appellant do anything to Minor 1 or Minor 2. (R. p. 239, line 19 – p. 240, lines 1-2).

Minor 4’s mother testified that when her son was four years old he told her that he had been sexually abused in Appellant’s truck. (R. p. 259, lines 13-23). The mother called the police, who took a report and sent Minor 4 for a “forensic interview” but charges were never filed in regard to Minor 4’s allegation. (R. p. 260, line 18 – p. 261, lines 1-13). At trial Minor 4 testified that Appellant put his private part in the minor’s mouth. (R. p. 280, line 8 – p. 281, lines 1-8).

The three indictments for dissemination of obscene material were based solely on the testimony of the Minors. The police never searched for or recovered any obscene material from Appellant’s house. The State presented no medical evidence.

The forensic interviewer testified about the RATAC protocol. (R. pp. 285-287). She also testified that that neither Minor 1 nor Minor 2 disclosed any sexual assault during the forensic interview. (R. p. 309, lines 7-9; p. 310, lines 10-15). An investigator from the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office who was also trained to do forensic interviews and trained as a victim’s advocate testified that Minor 2 never disclosed any sexual abuse to her. (R. p. 321, lines 14-16; p. 317, lines 12-13). Another witness who did not interview the

minors was qualified, over objection, as an expert in child abuse assessment. (R. p. 344, line 7 – p. 345, lines 1-13).

## ARGUMENTS

1. The trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to sever seven different indictments naming three different child victims when the State failed to demonstrate that the three groups of alleged offenses were of the same general nature, failed to prove that the offenses arose out of a single chain of circumstances and were provable by the same evidence and the Appellant was prejudiced by the improper joint trial.

Two of the indictments, one for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and one for dissemination of obscene material, indictments #2013-GS-17-0292, 0293, involved Minor 1. Two of the indictments, one for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and one for dissemination of obscene material, indictments #2013-GS-17-0328, 0294, involved Minor 2. Two of the indictments, one for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and one for dissemination of obscene material, indictments #2013-GS-17-0290, 0291, involved Minor 3. The last indictment for engaging a child in a sexual performance involved all three Minors.

At the beginning of the trial the State moved to “consolidate” the seven indictments for one trial. (R. pp. 9 – 17). The State argued, “The witness – the victims here are necessary witnesses to the other victims’ cases, so the testimony of each witness will be required in the other case.” (R. p. 10, lines 4-6). The State further argued, “These are closely related in time, place and character. All of the victims were between the age of five and eight when this abuse occurred. All were subject to acts of abuse by the defendant to include oral and anal sex. All of them were shown pornographic material by the {sic} these so these cases are certainly related closely in kind.” (R. p. 10, line 24 – p. 11, lines 1-5). The State made these arguments to the judge despite the fact that Minor 2 had denied the allegation contained in indictment #2013-GS-17-328 for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree to both a “forensic interviewer” and to an investigator from the Attorney General’s office. (R. p. 310, lines 18-20; p. 311, lines 10-15; p. 321, line 14 – p. 322, line 1).

Appellant objected to the consolidation or joinder explaining that some of the children were denying that they were actually sexually battered, and arguing that the offenses do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and the joinder results in substantial prejudice. (R. p. 11, line 24 – p. 12, 13, lines 1-18). The judge allowed joinder stating, “...just from discussion it appears from the Jones case and much so in the interest of judicial economy the State is entitled to have it’s [sic]motion granted. We’ll get it all together here and we’ll try it.” (R. p. 17, lines 3-7). The trial judge erred.

“Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial judge has the power, in his discretion, to order the indictments tried together if the defendant's substantive rights would not be prejudiced.” State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 109, 470 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1996). However, where the offenses are of the same nature, but which do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not provable by the same evidence may not properly be tried together. See State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 23-24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (holding although prison escapee committed two murders within a few miles of each other and attempted an armed robbery, the trial judge erred in consolidating the charges for one trial where the crimes “did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances, and required different evidence for proof”); see also State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (Ct. App. 1985) (finding joint trial on identical but unrelated forgeries violated defendant's right to a fair trial).

First, the criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree offense involving Minor 2 is not of the same nature as the criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree offense involving Minors 1 and 3 because the State knew, prior to trial, that Minor 2 denied the allegation contained in indictment #2013-GS-17-328 for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree to both a

“forensic interviewer” and to an investigator from the Attorney General’s office. (R. p. 310, lines 18-20; p. 311, lines 10-15; p. 321, line 14 – p. 322, line 1). Importantly, at trial Minor 2 denied the allegation contained in the indictment. While Minor 1 also denied the allegations to one forensic interviewer, he testified as to the allegations before the jury. Minor 3 also testified to the allegation contained in the indictment before the jury. The unsupported criminal sexual conduct with a minor offense involving Minor 2 is simply not of the same general nature as the criminal sexual conduct with a minor offenses involving Minors 1 and 3. While the State certainly would have called Minor 2 as a witness to the offense involving Minor 1, he was not a witness to the offense involving Minor 3 and the joinder of the offenses involving all three minors was improper.

As to Minor 1 and Minor 3, the State failed to prove that these alleged offenses were of the same general nature. “Offenses are considered to be of the same general nature where they are interconnected.” State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 350, 573 S.E.2d 856, 860 (Ct. App. 2002). The offenses involving Minor 1 and Minor 3 were not interconnected and were not of the same general nature. As discussed below, Minor 1 alleged oral sex. Minor 3 alleged anal sex with attempted oral sex. The three groups of offenses involving Minors 1, 2 and 3 were not of the same general nature.

Second, the State failed to prove that the offenses arose out of a single chain of circumstances provable by the same evidence. The three separate groups of offenses involved three different minors at unknown time frames within an over two year window for Minors 1 and 2 and a six month window for Minor 3. Minor 3 testified that he never saw Appellant do anything to Minor 1 or Minor 2. (R. p. 239, line 19 – p. 240, lines 1-2). There was no testimony from Minor 1 about allegations involving Minor 2 and 3 and no testimony from Minor 2 about allegations involving Minor 3.

There would not have been an overlap of evidence between the offenses involving Minor 1 and the offenses involving Minor 3 had each been properly tried in a separate trial. The State attempted to prove the case involving Minor 3 through Minor 3's testimony and his statements admitted pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(D). The State attempted to prove the case involving Minor 1 through Minor 1's testimony, his statements admitted pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(D) and the testimony of Minor 2. The State failed to prove the criminal sexual conduct offense involving Minor 2. The State should have proceeded solely on the offenses involving either Minor 1 or the offenses involving Minor 3. The cases should not have been tried together. The case involving Minor 2 should never have been brought to trial at all based on the evidence as the State knew it to be.

As to the dissemination of obscene material offenses, the State failed to prove that the offense involving Minor 1 and the offense involving Minor 3 arose out of a single chain of circumstances. Neither Minor 1 nor Minor 3 testified that they viewed the material together. The offenses involving Minor 1 should have been severed from the offenses involving Minor 3.

Appellant was prejudiced by the improper joinder. Evidence of allegation made by one of the minors would not have been admissible in the trial of the other minors. The State would not have been able to show a common scheme or plan pursuant to State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923), in a subsequent trial because the connection between the prior bad act and the alleged crime must be more than just a general similarity. See Smith, 322 S.C. at 110, 470, S.E.2d at 366; State v. Stokes, 279 S.C. 191, 192, 304 S.E.2d 814, 815 (1983) ("The 'common scheme or plan' exception requires more than mere commission of two similar crimes by the same person. There must be some connection between the crimes. If there is any doubt as to the connection between the acts, the evidence should not be admitted."); see also State v. Rivers, 273

S.C. 75, 254 S.E.2d 299 (1979). “When determining whether evidence is admissible as common scheme or plan, the trial court must analyze the similarities and dissimilarities between the crime charged and the bad act evidence to determine whether there is a close degree of similarity. State v. Parker, 315 S.C. 230, 433 S.E.2d 831 (1993). When the similarities outweigh the dissimilarities, the bad act evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b).” State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 683 S.E.2d 275, 277-78 (2009).

The State failed to prove a connection between the three groups of offenses. There were also substantial dissimilarities between the offenses. Minor 1 alleged oral sex. Minor 3 alleged humping or attempted anal sex and attempted oral sex. Minor 2 denied any sex. If separate trials had properly been granted, the evidence involving Minor 1 would not have been admissible in the trial involving Minor 3 and vice versa. The evidence in regard to Minor 2 would not have met the clear and convincing standard required for admission pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE.

2. The trial judge erred in admitting Rule 404(b) prior bad act evidence when the State failed to prove the prior act was relevant and the prior act did not meet the common scheme or plan exception to Rule 404(b).

At trial, in addition to the three separate and improperly joined cases discussed above, the State moved to offer the testimony of Minor 4 pursuant to Rule 404(b). (R. pp. 17-48). The State argued that the testimony of Minor 4 should come in as evidence of a common scheme or plan. (R. p. 30, lines 5-12). Appellant objected to the admission of the testimony arguing that the testimony did not meet the requirements of Rule 404(b). (R. pp. 34-41; 44-46). The judge granted the State's motion to admit the testimony stating:

The State's motion to allow the Lyle evidence I think they made a good case there, and that motion is granted. And I'll also add this that over the past 22 years I've tried several cases similar to this and sometimes there are problems and sometimes there are not. And I don't see any real problem with this. And, you know, as far as the Court's point of view as far as the clear and convincing aspect of it the child was straight forward and concise. As I said as far as the Court's point of view I think that clear and convincing argue [sic] has been met. Of course what a trial jury does is up for grabs."

(R. p. 47, lines 3-15).

Appellant asked for clarification in regard to the ruling and pursuant to State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009). The judge responded, "Well, you got your similarities there. You've got young children. I agree with the State that you've got the degree of control, degree of authority by an adult male over children that apparently had children put in his care. And I don't think I need to go any further than to say that. What's been said and what's been argued is good enough for appellate review." (R. p. 47, line 22 – p. 48, lines 1-3). Appellant renewed the objection to the prior bad act testimony of Minor 4 prior to Minor 4 testifying. (R. p. 245, line 21 – p. 246, lines 1-23). Appellant moved to exclude the prior bad act evidence. (R. p. 248, line 15 – p. 249, lines 1-11). The judge again overruled the objection and denied the motion to

exclude. (R. p. 249, line 12). The trial judge erred.

In State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 83 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “The process of analyzing bad act evidence begins with Rule 401, SCRE. Pursuant to Rule 401, the trial court must determine whether the evidence is relevant. Upon determining the evidence is relevant, the trial court must then determine whether the bad act evidence fits within an exception of Rule 404(b) as interpreted by our jurisprudence.” The testimony of Minor 4 was not relevant and did not meet an exception to Rule 404(b).

In regard to relevance the State argued, “Judge, as it relates to Lyle, 401 is the first consideration. Relevance, I don’t think that there is any question that the testimony here is relevant.” (R. p. 30, lines 5-7). The State offered no other explanation as to why the testimony of Minor 4 is relevant to the offense involving Minors 1, 2 and 3. Rule 401, SCRE defines relevant evidence as “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without it.” The only relevance of the prior bad act involving Minor 4 is to show that because Appellant is alleged to have committed a prior bad act with Minor 4, he must have committed the acts with Minors 1, 2 and 3. There is nothing unique or connecting which makes the prior bad act with Minor 4 relevant. The act constitutes improper character or evidence. This is precisely the type of evidence that is prohibited by Rule 404.

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