ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002458

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SAMMY LEE SCARBOROUGH,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 616
Bennettsville, SC 29512
(843) 479-6516

RECEIVED

FEB 03 2015

SC Court of Appeals

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly granted the State's motion to consolidate the three victims' cases because they were of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character and Appellant's substantive rights were not prejudiced.

Appellant argues the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to sever seven different indictments naming three different child victims, claiming the State failed to demonstrate that the three groups of alleged offenses were of the same general nature, arose out of a single chain of circumstances, and were provable by the same evidence. Additionally, he argues Appellant was prejudiced by the joint trial. On the contrary, the trial judge correctly consolidated the cases based on the factors from the Jones⁴ case and in the interest of judicial economy.

A defendant has “no inalienable right” to be tried separately for each indicted offense when charged with multiple crimes. McCrary v. State, 249 S.C. 14, 38, 152 S.E.2d 235, 247 (1967). “Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial judge has the power, in his discretion, to order the indictments tried together if the defendant’s substantive rights would not be prejudiced.” State v. Rice, 368 S.C. 610, 614, 629 S.E.2d 393, 394 (Ct. App. 2006); State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 109, 470 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1996); State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 315, 479 S.E.2d 517, 519 (Ct. App. 1996). “A motion for severance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.”

⁴ State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 479 S.E.2d 517 (Ct. App. 1996).

State v. Beekman, 405 S.C. 225, 229, 746 S.E.2d 483, 485 (Ct. App. 2013), *cert. granted* (citing State v. Caldwell, 378 S.C. 268, 277, 662 S.E.2d 474, 479 (Ct. App. 2008)); State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 350, 573 S.E.2d 856, 860 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996)); State v. Carter, 324 S.C. 383, 478 S.E.2d 86 (Ct. App. 1996); State v. Anderson, 318 S.C. 395, 458 S.E.2d 56 (Ct. App. 1995). “The court’s ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.” Simmons, 352 S.C. at 350, 573 S.E.2d at 860 (citing Tucker, 324 S.C. at 164, 478 S.E.2d at 265); State v. Prince, 316 S.C. 57, 447 S.E.2d 177 (1993); State v. Deal, 319 S.C. 49, 459 S.E.2d 93 (Ct. App. 1995). “A motion for severance is addressed to the trial court and should not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” State v. Harris, 351 S.C. 643, 652, 572 S.E.2d 267, 272 (2002).

The fact that the indictments involved three different victims did not require severance of the charges. In Jones, “the offenses charged were of the same general nature involving allegations of a pattern of sexual abuse involving the two minor victims . . . [who] had been taken to the same location” Id. at 315, 479 S.E.2d at 520. In State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 369-75, 618 S.E.2d 890, 891-95 (2005), the Supreme Court affirmed the circuit court’s denial of appellant’s motion to sever charges involving three victims, where she was charged with two counts of homicide by child abuse and one count of assault and battery involving incidents all occurring at different times with different children. Here, the cases were closely related in kind, place, and character. Furthermore, each victim was a necessary and material witness to the other victims’

cases. All victims were between the ages of four and six when the abuse occurred.⁵ All were subjected to oral or anal sex and were shown pornographic material. The abuse occurred in Appellant's backyard or barn area, and all the victims had similar relationships with Appellant as a close neighbor with whom they spent time. The offenses charged were of the same general nature and were interconnected. Moreover, the trial judge's consolidation of the charges was consistent with principles of judicial economy while also ensuring that the minor victims would not be unnecessarily subjected to repeated appearances in court for multiple trials to testify multiple times about the abuse they suffered at Appellant's hands.

Pretrial, Appellant argued consolidating the cases would create a substantial prejudice against Appellant. Specifically, he argued all the victims denied they were sexually battered and, thus, the cumulative effect of their testimony—"It wasn't me. It was him. It wasn't me."—would invoke emotion in the jury to believe something occurred and wrongfully convict Appellant. (R. 12, lines 16-22.) On the contrary, the State presented in its motion to consolidate that all the victims were subjected to acts of abuse to include oral and anal sex. And during the trial, Victim 1 and Victim 3 testified to being sexually abused by Appellant, while Officer Turner testified Victim 2 disclosed sexual abuse by Appellant to him. The testimony demonstrated each of the three victims made a disclosure of sexual abuse at the hands of Appellant. Therefore, Appellant's argument that Appellant was prejudiced because of the victims' denial of sexual battery

⁵ The State argued to the trial judge during its motion to consolidate that the age range of the victims at the time of the abuse was between five and eight years of age, but the record indicates the ages were between four and six.

is without merit. Thus, he has not shown prejudice as a result of the consolidation of cases.

In State v. Grace, 350 S.C. 19, 564 S.E.2d 331 (Ct. App. 2002), this Court addressed the issue of consolidation. This Court determined the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in joining Grace's charges of criminal sexual conduct and lewd act. This Court based its decision on the fact that the charges were of the same general nature, finding they were all sexual misconduct crimes, they occurred in the same location, the evidence showed a pattern of abuse, and most of the witnesses were the same. Id. at 24, 564 S.E.2d at 333. Here, the charges were also of the same general nature: all sexual misconduct crimes, occurred in Appellant's backyard or barn, showed a pattern of abuse involving oral and anal sexual abuse, and shared the same witnesses. Additionally, similarities exist among the victims: all boys between the ages of four and six when the abuse occurred. Just as the trial court was correct in its decision to consolidate the charges in Grace, so it was here. Because motions concerning consolidation and severance will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

II.

The trial court properly allowed testimony of prior and other bad acts by Appellant because the acts were admissible as part of a common scheme or plan under Rule 404(b), SCRE, and State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in allowing the State to admit the testimony of Victim 4 regarding other bad acts by Appellant. He argues Victim 4's testimony was irrelevant and did not fit the common scheme or plan exception to Rule 404(b). On the contrary, the trial court properly considered the evidence and allowed the evidence of Victim 4's sexual abuse by Appellant as part of a common scheme or plan based on the similarities to the acts charged.

Evidence of other bad acts is not admissible to prove the defendant's guilt except to show motive, identity, existence of a common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident, or intent. See Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). Proof of prior bad acts must be clear and convincing if they are not the subject of a conviction. State v. Pierce, 326 S.C. 176, 178, 485 S.E.2d 913, 914 (1997); State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 468, 523 S.E.2d 787, 791 (Ct. App. 1999). Even if the evidence is clear and convincing and falls within a Lyle exception, the trial judge must exclude the evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 435, 683 S.E.2d 275, 278-279 (2009).

Prior to trial, the State moved *in limine* to admit the testimony of Victim 4 regarding sexual abuse by Appellant. Victim 4 testified Appellant was known to him as an uncle, though he was not certain they were actually related. When Victim 4 was three

years old, Appellant made Victim 4 put his penis in his mouth in Appellant's truck outside a store.

Victim 4's allegations were clear and convincing. "Clear and convincing evidence is that degree of proof which will produce in the mind of the trier of facts a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be established. Such proof is intermediate, more than a mere preponderance but less than is required for proof beyond a reasonable doubt; it does not mean clear and unequivocal." State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 24, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008). In Fletcher, the Court found clear and convincing evidence did not exist when no testimony named Fletcher as the person who handcuffed the victim or placed him in the attic. Id. Here, the State provided direct evidence through Victim 4's testimony that Appellant made him put Appellant's penis in his mouth while in Appellant's truck outside a store. (R. 25, line 19-R. 26, line 21.) Additionally, the State asked the trial court to take judicial notice that the Family Court found by a preponderance of the evidence that Appellant committed sexual abuse and consequently placed him on the central registry. (R. 30, lines 13-21.)

"When determining whether evidence is admissible as common scheme or plan, the trial court must analyze the similarities and dissimilarities between the crime charged and the bad act evidence to determine whether there is a close degree of similarity. When the similarities outweigh the dissimilarities, the bad act evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b)." Wallace, 384 S.C. at 433, 683 S.E.2d at 277-78. The South Carolina Supreme Court provided some factors to consider including: (1) the age of the victims when the abuse occurred; (2) the relationship between the victims and the perpetrator; (3) the location where the abuse occurred; (4) the use of coercion or threats; and (5) the manner

of the occurrence, for example, the type of sexual battery. *Id.* at 433-34, 683 S.E.2d at 278.

Victim 4's testimony is sufficiently similar to the testimony by the three victims to be admissible. All four testified to being similar ages during the sexual abuse, from age three to age six. The type of abuse was similar because it involved oral and anal sex. Each victim was male. Appellant was in a position of authority over each of the victims, as Appellant was an uncle by marriage of Victim 4 and babysat him on a regular basis and was a neighbor to the other victims, regularly keeping them and having them over to his house to play. (R. 31, lines 17-24; R. 219, lines 19-24; R. 258, line 21-R. 259, line 12.) The only dissimilarity was where the abuse occurred. The three victims were abused in Appellant's backyard or barn, while Victim 4 was abused in Appellant's truck outside a store. The similarities in this case certainly outweigh the slight difference of where the abuse occurred. Notably, Appellant conceded the ages and genders of the victims were similarities. (R. 40, lines 24-R. 41, line 1.)

Appellant argues the testimony by Victim 4 was not relevant and only shows Appellant must have committed the crimes charged because he is connected to a prior bad act. Appellant argues "[t]here is nothing unique or connecting which makes the prior bad act with [Victim] 4 relevant." (App. Br. 15.) However, due to the similarities between Victim 4's sexual abuse and the abuse that happened to the other three victims— young boys between the ages of four and six, Appellant having a position of authority over them, the types of abuse: anal and oral—there were unique characteristics that connected the three victims to Victim 4.

The trial judge found Victim 4's testimony clear and convincing, noted the similarity in the victims' ages, and agreed with the State that Appellant had a degree of

authority over the child victims. He correctly admitted the Lyle evidence based on the similarities outweighing the dissimilarities.

III.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for mistrial because even though Victim 2 denied the allegations in one indictment and did not disclose abuse to the forensic interviewer or investigator and the State subsequently withdrew that indictment, the consolidation of the three cases was proper based on what the State, in good faith, believed the evidence would show.

Appellant argues the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to declare a mistrial after Victim 2 denied the allegations in one of the indictments and later in the trial the forensic interviewer and the investigator from the Attorney General's Office confirmed that Victim 2 had earlier denied the allegations contained in the indictment. Specifically, he maintains the State had a duty to refrain from prosecuting a charge it knew was not supported by probable cause. However, Officer Larry Jason Turner testified Victim 2 disclosed to him that he was sexually abused. Thus, the State brought the charge based on the evidence it possessed at the beginning of the trial and did not know that Victim 2 would fail to disclose the abuse during his testimony. The State acted in good faith based on the evidence it possessed and subsequently made a prudent decision not to go forward on the charge based on what was presented by Victim 2 at trial. The trial court properly denied the motion for mistrial.

The "[g]ranting of a mistrial is a serious and extreme measure which should only be taken when the prejudice can be removed no other way." State v. Edwards, 373 S.C. 230, 236, 644 S.E.2d 66, 69 (Ct. App. 2007). "The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. The trial court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 585, 698 S.E.2d 862, 865 (Ct. App. 2010) (citation and internal

quotation marks omitted). “A mistrial should only be granted when absolutely necessary, and a defendant must show **both error and prejudice** in order to be entitled to a mistrial.” Id. at 585-86, 698 S.E.2d at 865 (emphasis added). “Insubstantial errors that do not impact the result of the case do not warrant a mistrial when guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence.” Id. at 586, 698 S.E.2d at 865 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” Id. at 586, 698 S.E.2d at 865-66 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The trial court is in the best position to ascertain the potential prejudicial effect of any offending testimony and the Supreme Court favors the exercise of wide discretion of the circuit court in ruling on a motion for mistrial in each individual case. State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 324, 479 S.E.2d 517, 524 (Ct. App. 1996).

Here, the State based its charges against Appellant on the initial report prepared by the police, which included a disclosure by Victim 2 of sexual abuse by Appellant. Appellant based his argument for mistrial on the fact that Victim 2 did not testify at trial to being sexually abused. (R. 246, lines 18-25.) Appellant states in his brief, “This is not a case where the prosecution was surprised because a witness changed his story on the stand.” (App. Br. 21.) It is true that the State admitted it was well aware from the beginning that the case involved “little children who say different things almost every time you talk to [them].” (R. 247, lines 6-9.) The State further admitted it was well aware it may have to pull the indictment against Victim 2 based on what he said. (R. 247, lines 12-15.) However, simply because the State knew there was a possibility Victim 2 might not disclose on the stand does not mean it should not have attempted to prosecute a crime it knew occurred based on Victim 2’s statement to police.

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